SUPREME COURT NO. 17-1579 POLK CO. NO. EQCE081503

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

PLANNED PARENTHOOD OF THE HEARTLAND AND JILL MEADOWS, M.D.,

Petitioners-Appellants,

V.

KIMBERLY K. REYNOLDS EX REL. STATE OF IOWA AND IOWA BOARD OF MEDICINE,

Respondents-Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR
POLK COUNTY
HONORABLE JEFFREY D. FARRELL, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

PETITIONERS/APPELLANTS' BRIEF

ALICE CLAPMAN*

Planned Parenthood Federation of America 1110 Vermont Ave., N.W., Ste. 300 Washington, D.C. 20005 Telephone: (202) 973-4862 alice.clapman@ppfa.org

RITA BETTIS

American Civil Liberties Union of Iowa Foundation 505 Fifth Ave., Ste. 901

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether Senate File 471 ("Act") Violates Petitioners Patients' Due Process Rights

AUTHORITIES

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862, 881 (Iowa 2009)

Anderson v. Low Rent Housing Comm'n of Muscatine, 304 N.W.2d

239 (Iowa 1981)

State v. McKnight, 511 N.W.2d 389 (Iowa 1994)

Equal. Found. v. City of Cin., 54 F.3d 261, 265 (6th Cir. 1995)

Planned Parenthood of Heartland, Inc. v. Iowa Bd. of Med., 865

N.W.2d 252 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Baldon, 829 N.W.2d 785 (Iowa 2013)

McQuistion v. City of Clinton, 872 N.W.2d 817 (Iowa 2015)

Hensler v. City of Davenport, 790 N.W.2d 569 (Iowa 2010)

State, Dep't of Health & Social Servs v. Planned Parenthood of

Alaska, 28 P.3d 904 (Alaska 2001)

King v. State, 818 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2012)

Ruth B. Ginsburg, Some Thoughts on Autonomy and Equality and

Relation to Roe v. Wade, 63 N.C. L. Rev. 375 (1985)

Right to Choose v. Byrne, 450 A.2d 925 (N.J. 1982)

Women of State of Minn. v. Gomez, 542 N.W.2d 17 (Minn. 1995)

Valley Hosp. Ass'n, Inc. v. Mat-Su Coal. for Choice, 948 P.2d 963 (Alaska 1997)

Plowman v. Ft. Madison Cmty. Hosp., 896 N.W.2d 393 (Iowa 2017)

Planned Parenthood League of Mass., Inc. v. Attorney Gen., 677 N.E.2d 101 (Mass. 1997)

Armstrong v. State, 989 P.2d 364 (Mont. 1999)

<u>Planned Parenthood of The Great Nw. v. State</u>, 375 P.3d 1122 (Alaska 2016)

Gainesville Woman Care, LLC v. State, 210 So.3d 1243 (Fla. 2017)

Am. Acad. of Pediatrics v. Lungren, 940 P.2d 797 (Cal. 1997)

Planned Parenthood of Cent. N. J. v. Farmer, 762 A.2d 620 (N.J. 2000)

Women's Health Ctr. of W. Va. Inc., v. Panepinto, 446 S.E.2d 658 (W. Va. 1993)

Planned Parenthood of Middle Tenn. v. Sundquist, 38 S.W.3d 1 (Tenn. 2000)

Humphreys v. Clinic for Women, Inc., 796 N.E.2d 247 (Ind. 2003)

N.M. Right to Choose/NARAL v. Johnson, 975 P.2d 841 (N.M. 1998)

Doe v. Maher, 515 A.2d 134 (Conn. Super. Ct. 1986)

State v. Ochoa, 792 N.W.2d 260 (Iowa 2010)

<u>In re Det. of Williams</u>, 628 N.W.2d 447 (Iowa 2001)

Sherman v. Pella Corp., 576 N.W. 2d 312 (Iowa 1998)

S.F. 471, § 5 (2017)

Planned Parenthood of Se. Pa. v. Casey, 505 U.S. 833 (1992)

Whalen v. Roe, 429 U.S. 589 (1977)

Comm. to Defend Reprod. Rights v. Myers, 625 P.2d 779 (Cal. 1981)

Counseling and Waiting Periods for Abortion, Guttmacher Inst. (2017)

Tex. Health & Safety Code Ann. § 171.012(a)(4)

Va. Code Ann. § 18.2-76(B)

Whole Woman's Health v. Hellerstedt, 136 S. Ct. 2292 (2016)

<u>Hopkins v. Jegley</u>, Case No. 4:17-cv-00404-KGB, 2017 WL 3220445 (E.D. Ark. July 28, 2017)

Planned Parenthood of Ind. & Ky., Inc. v. Comm'r, Ind. State Dep't of Health, No. 1:16-cv-01807-TWP- DML, 2017 WL 1197308 (S.D. Ind. March 31, 2017)

Whole Woman's Health v. Hellerstedt (Whole Woman's Health II), 231 F. Supp. 3d 218 (W.D. Tex. Jan. 27, 2017)

<u>W. Ala. Women's Ctr. v. Miller</u>, 217 F. Supp. 3d 1313 (M.D. Ala. 2016)

Whole Woman's Health v. Paxton, No. A-17-CV-690-LY (W.D. Tex. Aug. 31, 2017)

Planned Parenthood of Ariz. v. Humble, 753 F.3d 905 (9th Cir. 2014)

Planned Parenthood of Wis., Inc. v. Schimel, 806 F.3d 908 (7th Cir. 2015)

Planned Parenthood Se., Inc. v. Strange, 33 F. Supp. 3d 1330 (M. D. Ala. 2014)

EMW Women's Ctr. v. Beshear, No. 3:17-cv-16-DJH, 2017 WL

4288906 (W. D. Ky. Sept. 27, 2017)

Okla. Coal. for Reprod. Just. v. Cline, 292 P.3d 27 (Okla. 2012)

Rachel K. Jones, et al., Abortion in the United States: Incidence and

Access to Services, 2005, 40 Persp. Sexual & Reprod. Health 6 (2008)

<u>Cin. Women's Servs., Inc. v. Taft</u>, 468 F.3d 361 (6th Cir. 2006)

II. Whether the Act Violates Petitioners' and their Patients' Equal Protection Rights

AUTHORITIES

Planned Parenthood of Heartland, Inc. v. Iowa Bd. of Med., 865 N.W.2d 252 (Iowa 2015)

Cass R. Sunstein, <u>Neutrality in Constitutional Law (with Special Reference to Pornography, Abortion, and Surrogacy)</u> 92 Colum. L. Rev. 1, 29–44 (1992)

<u>In re Det. Of Williams</u>, 628 N.W.2d 447 (Iowa 2001)

<u>Varnum v. Brien</u>, 763 N.W.2d 862, 881 (Iowa 2009)

Sanchez v. State, 692 N.W.2d 812 (Iowa 2005)

Cedar Rapids Cmty. Sch. Dist. v. Parr, 227 N.W.2d 486 (Iowa 1975)

Quaker Oats Co. v. Cedar Rapids Human Rights Comm'n, 268 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 1978)

N.M. Right to Choose/NARAL v. Johnson, 975 P.2d 841 (N.M. 1998)

Planned Parenthood of Se. Pa. v. Casey, 505 U.S. 833 (1992)

<u>Planned Parenthood of Middle Tenn. v. Sundquist</u>, 38 S.W.3d 1 (Tenn. 2000)

Bray v. Alexandria Women's Health Clinic, 506 U.S. 263 (1993)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Under Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1101(2)(a), (b) and (d), this case warrants retention because it presents a substantial, urgent constitutional question of first impression and broad public importance as to the validity of a statute.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

For over 40 years, Iowa women who faced an unwanted pregnancy or a medical crisis involving their pregnancy have determined for themselves how much time they need to think through their options. And those who are certain in their decision to end their pregnancy have been able to carry out that decision as soon as they can schedule an appointment at a health center and complete the informed consent and medical screening process.

Section 1 of Senate File 471, to be codified at Iowa Code § 146A (the "Act")—which the district court recognized is "arguably the strictest mandatory waiting period law in the country," App. v.I:338–39—eliminates this option. The Act instead forces all women, regardless of how certain they are, to make an additional and medically unnecessary trip to a health center at least 72 hours before they can obtain an abortion, at which they must have an ultrasound and be given certain state-mandated information intended to promote alternatives to abortion.

The leading national women's health care organization, the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG), has opposed

mandatory delay laws like the Act because they severely restrict women's access to safe, timely abortion care, thereby jeopardizing their health. App. v.I:543–46, Tr. of Trial Proceedings (July 17, 2017) ("Tr. I"):198:7–201:5. The Act would substantially delay women from obtaining care, exposing them to medical risk, loss of strongly-preferred medical options, severe stress and other emotional harm, loss of confidentiality, burdensome costs, risks to their personal safety, and other dangers and harms. App. v.I:332–333. In some cases, the Act would *prevent* women from obtaining a safe, legal abortion.

The uncontroverted evidence in the record also demonstrated that the Act would impose all these harms without any actual *benefits*. Women *already* deliberate and seek out information before having an abortion. Clinics already provide them with extensive, non-directive information and resources related to all their options. The overwhelming majority of patients are firm in their decision even before they reach the clinic (and most do not opt to view or hear their ultrasound). And those few patients who are uncertain at the time of their appointment already delay their procedure and take the time they need to resolve their uncertainty.

Because the Act would impose serious burdens on women for no factually supported reason, and would single pregnant women out for this ill-treatment, it violates the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the Iowa Constitution.

B. Procedural History

The Iowa Legislature passed the Act on April 18, 2017, to be effective upon the Governor's signature. The 72-hour mandatory delay provision was added at the last minute with virtually no debate. As soon as they learned that then-Governor Branstad intended to sign the Act, Petitioners-Appellants ("Petitioners") moved for temporary injunctive relief in the district court on May 3. The district court denied relief on May 4, and Petitioners sought a stay from this Court. On May 5, Governor Branstad signed the Act and it took effect. Later that day, this Court temporarily stayed the Act, Order, No. 17-0708 (Iowa May 5, 2017), and on May 9, ordered the parties to hold an expedited final hearing on the merits. App. v.I:250–253. The district court held a trial on July 17 and 18, and entered its Ruling on September 29, upholding the Act and denying Petitioners permanent relief. Petitioners

sought a stay from this Court, which this Court granted on October 23. Order, No. 17-1579 (Iowa October 23, 2017).

I. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The Act

The Act requires "[a] physician performing an abortion" to "obtain written certification from the pregnant woman . . . at least seventy-two hours prior to performing the abortion" that she has undergone an ultrasound, has been given the option to view and/or hear the ultrasound and/or listen to a description of the fetus based on the ultrasound image, and has been provided certain information, "based upon the materials developed by the department of public health," including: information about "options relative to a pregnancy," as well as "[t]he indicators, contra-indicators, and risk factors, including any physical, psychological, or situational factors related to the abortion in light of the woman's medical history and medical condition." Iowa Code § 146A.1(1) (2017).

The Act provides only extremely narrow exceptions for: "[a]n abortion performed to save the life of a pregnant woman"; "[a]n abortion performed in a medical emergency"; and "[t]he performance of a medical

procedure by a physician that, in the physician's reasonable medical judgment, is designed to or intended to prevent the death or to preserve the life of the pregnant woman." <u>Id</u>. § 146A.1(2)(a)–(c). Physicians who violate the Act are subject to license discipline by the Board of Medicine ("Board"). <u>Id</u>. § 146A.1(3) Iowa Code § 148.6 (2)(c) (2017).

B. Evidence Presented at Trial

At trial, Petitioners presented expert and fact testimony from: Appellant Dr. Jill Meadows, a board-certified obstetrician-gynecologist ("ob-gyn") and the medical director of Planned Parenthood of the Heartland (PPH); Jason Burkhiser Reynolds, a PPH health center manager; Dr. Daniel Grossman, an ob-gyn with over twenty years of clinical experience and a leading medical researcher in the field of reproductive health care; Dr. Jane Collins, an expert in poverty, gender, and low-wage labor; and Dr. Susan Lipinski, a board certified ob-gyn who practices in Waterloo and holds leadership positions in both the Iowa Chapter of ACOG and the Iowa Medical Society and who herself does not provide abortions except in emergencies. Petitioners submitted written, sworn expert testimony from Dr. Lenore Walker, a clinical and forensic psychologist with decades of

expertise in violence against women, including sexual violence, intimate partner violence, and family violence. App. v.II:21–41.

Respondents-Appellees ("Respondents") did not present any live testimony. They submitted written testimony by Mark Bowden, Executive Director of the Board, stating that the Board would promulgate rules implementing the Act (which it has not yet done), and by Melissa Bird, Bureau Chief of Health Statistics at Iowa Department of Public Health, presenting vital statistics on where abortion patients resided in 2014 and 2015.

1. Abortion Services in Iowa

PPH provides a wide range of healthcare at its Iowa health centers, including well-woman exams, cancer screenings, testing and treatment for sexually transmitted infections, contraceptive counseling and care, transgender healthcare, and medication and surgical abortion. App. v.I:356, Tr. I:11:9–21; App. v.I:448–49 Tr. I:103:22–104:3. Over the past year, PPH provided over 2000 medication abortions and over 1000 surgical abortions in Iowa. App. v.I:363, Tr. I:18:1–8. PPH provides both surgical and medication abortion at two Iowa clinics, in Des Moines and Iowa City. App.

v.I:361, Tr. I:16:9–13. Currently another four of PPH's health centers—in Ames, Bettendorf (Quad Cities), Cedar Falls, and Council Bluffs—provide only medication abortion, which is an early method of ending a pregnancy using only pills. App. v.I:361, Tr. I:16:9–13 (Meadows); App. v.II:117. The Bettendorf health center will close in the near future. App. v.I:362, Tr. I:17:16–23.¹

As Petitioners' witnesses testified, women decide to terminate a pregnancy for a variety of familial, medical, financial, and other personal reasons. Nearly one in three women in this country will have an abortion at some point in their lives. App. v.I:483, Tr. I:138:8–11. The majority of these women are mothers who have decided that they cannot parent another child at this time. App. v.II:140; see also App. v.I:483, Tr. I:138:12–21 (Grossman). As Dr. Meadows explained, her patients have considered their own situation and concluded that "[f]or financial, physical, psychological, or

-

¹ PPH has been forced to close the Bettendorf center, as well as other centers, as a result of additional legislation targeting abortion providers and barring them from providing certain publicly-funded non-abortion family planning services. App. v.I:361, Tr. I:16:14–17:6.

situational reasons they're just not in a place where they can be the parent that they want to be." App. v.I:367, Tr. I:22:22–24.

2. PPH's Informed Consent Process

As the uncontroverted trial testimony showed, PPH, like other providers following the standard of care, obtains the informed consent of abortion patients. Dr. Meadows, who has provided reproductive health care services for over twenty years, including medication and surgical abortions to tens of thousands of patients, App. v.I:357, Tr. I:12:14–18, testified that abortion patients are provided with all information necessary for them to understand the risks and benefits of abortion and the alternatives to abortion, and make a fully informed and voluntary decision. App. v.I:364–66, Tr. I:19:21–21:12.

Dr. Meadows and Jason Burkhiser Reynolds, who has provided patient education to hundreds of PPH's abortion patients, App. v.I:448, Tr. I:103:12–21; App. v.I:450–51, Tr. I:105:18–106:1, both testified about PPH's comprehensive patient education process—available on the day of the procedure—which, inter alia, gives patients multiple opportunities to ask questions and discuss any concerns they may have. App. v.I:364–66, Tr.

I:19:21–21:12; App. v.I:459–50, Tr. I:114:17–115:10. Trained staff members who take patients through this process ask open-ended questions, discuss with patients their decision-making process and state of mind, and identify any red flags that suggest a patient may not be certain that she wants to have an abortion. App. v.I:365, Tr. I:20:5–20; App. v.I:451, Tr. I:106:16–22; App. v.I:459–60, Tr. I:114:17–115:25; App. v.I:462–63, Tr. I:117:13–118:22. This is the standard of care for other providers as well. App. v.I:495–96, Tr. I:152:11–153:23; App. v.I:497–98, Tr. I:150:19–151:12.² Indeed, Respondents failed to present any evidence that a single woman in Iowa has undergone an abortion without first giving informed and voluntary consent.

_

² The only other abortion clinic in Iowa, Emma Goldman in Iowa City, is credentialed by the National Abortion Federation, which requires its members to adhere to similar standards. See Nat'l Abortion Fed'n, 2017 3–6. Policy Guidelines available at https://5aa1b2xfmfh2e2mk03kk8rsx-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wpcontent/uploads/2017-CPGs-for-Abortion-Care.pdf (requiring that each patient "have a private opportunity to discuss issues and concerns about her abortion," and that providers ensure that "appropriate personnel have a discussion with the patient in which accurate information is provided about the procedure and its alternatives, and the potential risks and benefits, and in which "[t]he patient must have the opportunity to have any questions answered to her satisfaction prior to intervention").

As the district court recognized, "[t]he evidence is clear" that Act offers no conceivable benefit to the decision-making of "the vast majority of women" who seek an abortion because these women "have thought hard about the decision by the time they make an appointment[,] . . . have researched their options. . . [and] are not going to change their minds." App. v.I:332.³ As Dr. Meadows and Mr. Reynolds testified, most women are firm in their decision and ready to have the procedure by the time they *arrive* at

³ While acknowledging that most patients are certain by the time of their appointment, the district court overstated the small minority of patients who. despite initially intending to terminate, ultimately change their mind. Citing Sarah C.M. Roberts, et al. Utah's 72-Hour Waiting Period for Abortion: Experiences Among Clinic-Based Sample of Women, 48 Persps. on Sexual and Reprod. Health 179 (2016), the court stated that "8 percent of women who appeared for the informational visit changed their mind and took the pregnancy to term." App. v.I:307. That is incorrect. While 8% continued their pregnancy, this percentage included women who were already inclined to do so at their informational visit and therefore never changed their minds in the relevant sense. App. v.I:511-12, Tr. I:166:5-167:19. Moreover, this same 8% also included women who carried to term not because they wanted to but because of financial or logistical barriers or because the statemandated delay pushed them past the gestational age when they could find a provider and were comfortable terminating. App. v.I:645, Tr. II:93:5-22. And finally, as Dr. Grossman pointed out and the district court ignored, this same study showed that the percentage of women who truly changed their mind, 2%, was comparable to research from states without any mandatory delay law, indicating that these laws do not persuade women not to have abortions. App. v.I:509-511, Tr. I:164:20-166:2; see generally Roberts, et al., note 2.

the clinic. App. v.I:370–71, Tr. I:25:21–26:5; App. v.I:463–64, Tr. I:118:23–119:7.

To reach that certainty, patients "have thought long and hard about this decision, and they have made a careful and considered decision about what is best for them and their family," after seeking out information and conferring with others. App. v.I:496, Tr. I:151:16–19. And studies show that patients are as or more certain of their decision to have an abortion than patients presenting for other medical procedures or treatments. App. v.I:499–503, Tr. I:154:4–158:7; App. v.I:509, Tr. I:164:1–8. Most patients, moreover, do not consider an ultrasound relevant to their decision-making process (unsurprisingly, given that most have already carried a prior pregnancy to term). While PPH offers every woman the opportunity to see and/or hear an ultrasound, the majority of patients decline this option. App. v.I:369–370, Tr. I:24:23–25:11.4

_

⁴ As Dr. Grossman discussed, one study of *same-day* voluntary ultrasound viewing showed a small association with carrying to term. However, because that study was non-randomized, it is impossible to determine whether the ultrasound had any effect or whether, conversely, women more inclined to carry to term simply were more likely to opt to view the ultrasound. App. v.I:519–20, Tr. I:174:14-175:12; <u>see also</u> App. v.II:150. At

When a patient is not certain, PPH works with her to identify and consider the values, goals, and circumstances relevant to her decision. App. v.I:371, Tr. I:26:6–19; App. v.I:464, Tr. I:119:8–18. PPH informs her about available resources if she decides to carry to term, such as adoption agencies (including an agency that will meet her in the clinic), prenatal care, public assistance, and other resources. App. v.I:368–69, Tr. I:23:5–24:7; App. v.I:461–62, Tr. I:116:20–117:4; App. v.I:464, Tr. I:119:10–15. Sometimes, the patient education process clarifies for a patient that she wants to continue her pregnancy, and PPH provides her with resources to support that decision. App. v.I:368, Tr. I:23:5–13; App. v.I:464, Tr. I:119:10–15.

If this process does not point a patient to a clear decision, PPH will advise her to take more time to consider her options. App. v.I:371, Tr. I:26:6–19. Thus, while the district court reasoned that the Act "will give women [who are uncertain] an opportunity to collect information and take some additional time before proceeding with an abortion," App. v.I:338, in

any rate, as the district court acknowledged, this study of same-day ultrasounds does not speak to the question here: whether mandating *delay* after the ultrasound benefits patient decision-making. App. v.I:307.

fact the small minority of women who need that additional time already are encouraged to, and do, take it.⁵

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