IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 17-1579

PLANNED PARENTHOOD OF THE HEARTLAND
and JILL MEADOWS,
Petitioner-Appellants,

vs.

KIMBERLY K. REYNOLDS and IOWA BOARD OF MEDICINE,
Respondent-Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JEFFREY D. FARRELL, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

JEFFREY S. THOMPSON
Solicitor General of Iowa
jeffrey.thompson@ag.iowa.gov

THOMAS J. OGDEN
Assistant Attorney General
thomas.ogden@ag.iowa.gov

Office of the Attorney General of Iowa
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT-APPELLEES

FINAL

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

Planned Parenthood completely ignores this legal standard in its brief. It is easy to see why; by deliberately choosing not to proceed

with a challenge as-applied to any particular plaintiff or group of plaintiffs—but presenting its case as if it had—Planned Parenthood has failed to meet its burden. Rather than attempt to show that the law is unconstitutional in all its applications, Planned Parenthood would have this Court adopt a “worst-case-scenario” standard for facial challenges under the Iowa constitution.

While the Iowa Supreme Court has been clear on the standard for a facial challenge under the Iowa constitution, the standard for prevailing on a facial challenge to a statute regulating abortion is the subject of some debate in the federal courts. *See Gonzales v. Carhart*, 550 N.W.2d 124, 167-68 (2007) (“What that burden consists of in the specific context of abortion statutes has been a subject of some question.”); *cf. Ohio v. Akron Center for Reproductive Health*, 497 U.S. 502, 514, (1990) (“[B]ecause appellees are making a facial challenge to a statute, they must show that no set of circumstances exists under which the Act would be valid” (internal quotation marks omitted)); *Planned Parenthood of Southeastern Pa. v. Casey*, 505 U.S. 833, 895 (1992) (indicating a spousal-notification statute would impose an undue burden “in a large fraction of the cases in which [it] is relevant” and holding the statutory provision facially invalid).

The United States Supreme Court declined to resolve the dispute in *Gonzales*, though, because the complainants did not establish that the challenged law would be unconstitutional in a large fraction of relevant cases. *Gonzales*, 550 U.S. at 167-68; *see also War Eagle Village*, 775 N.W.2d at 722 n.3. The same is true in this case—Planned Parenthood did not meet its burden under either standard. As will be explained, the decision of the district court denying the petition can be affirmed on this ground.

B. Choosing to terminate a pregnancy is not a fundamental right under the Iowa constitution.

The baseline that applies to every liberty interest proscribes any law that is not rationally related to a legitimate government purpose. That baseline is commonly referred to as the “rational basis” test. For a select few of our most important rights, a law that infringes the right must pass a higher hurdle. The State cannot interfere with those “fundamental” rights unless it can show that the law is narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling interest. *Id.* While it has not set forth a clear test for determining whether a claimed liberty interest enjoys the status of a fundamental right, this Court has referred to several first principles that it uses as a guide.

In general, fundamental rights are those explicitly or implicitly enumerated in the constitution (freedom of speech and press, exercise of religion, free assembly, trial by jury, etc.). *King v. State*, 818 N.W.2d 1, 27 (Iowa 2012). Any claimed right that is not explicitly or implicitly enumerated must at least be deeply rooted in our history and tradition and “implicit in the concept of ordered liberty.” *Id.* (quoting *Hensler v. City of Davenport*, 790 N.W.2d 569, 581 (Iowa 2010)). In other words, as this Court put it, “‘fundamental right’ for purposes of constitutional review is not a synonym for ‘important.’” *Id.* Indeed, many important liberty interests do not qualify as fundamental rights. *Id.* (citing *Seering*, 701 N.W.2d at 664; *State v. Sanchez*, 692 N.W.2d 812, 817 (Iowa 2005)). The key to applying the proper analysis is a “careful description” of the claimed right—that is, it must be identified with accuracy and specificity. *Seering*, 701 N.W.2d at 663 (citations omitted).

Planned Parenthood points to this Court’s recognition of a fundamental right to procreate in *McQuiston v. City of Clinton*, 872 N.W.2d 817, 833 (Iowa 2015). It argues that if procreation—“the decision to bear a child”—merits this protection, so must “the decision not to bear a child.” Appellant’s Br. P.50-51. This is where

the “careful description” of the claimed right is important. Deciding not to have a child is not the same thing as deciding to terminate a pregnancy. The former refrains from some action; the latter is an affirmative act—ending the life of a developing fetus. Even Justice Blackmun recognized in *Roe v. Wade* that terminating a pregnancy is “inherently different” from the decision whether to procreate. 410 U.S. 113, 159 (1973). In his partial concurrence in *Casey*, Chief Justice Rehnquist elaborated:

We are now of the view that, in terming this right fundamental, the Court in *Roe* read the earlier opinions upon which it based its decision much too broadly. Unlike marriage, procreation, and contraception, abortion involves the purposeful termination of a potential life. The abortion decision must therefore be recognized as *sui generis*, different in kind from the others that the Court has protected under the rubric of personal or family privacy and autonomy.

See 505 U.S. 833, 952 (Rehnquist, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) (internal quotations and citation omitted). This Court may be unwilling to stake a position on when “life” begins—the State does not ask it to—but it cannot ignore the value that our law places on the unborn.

Iowa law is replete with recognition of the rights of unborn children. For example, a “posthumous child”—one conceived before but born after the death of a person who dies without a will—may inherit from an intestate. Iowa Code § 633.220. A child born after a person executes a will but conceived before that person’s death receives the same share of the estate as if the person had died without a will. Iowa Code § 633.267. At any point in a judicial proceeding, the court may appoint a guardian *ad litem* to represent the interest of an unborn child. Iowa Code § 633A.6306. Life-sustaining medical care cannot be withheld or withdrawn from a pregnant woman so long as the unborn child can develop to birth with continued application of that care. Iowa Code §§ 144A.6, 144A.7. In light of this solicitude, it cannot be said that our law treats terminating a pregnancy no different from having never conceived a child in the first place.

Planned Parenthood claims, without citation to any decision, that this Court “already recognizes privacy as a fundamental right under the Iowa Constitution.” Appellant’s Br. P.55. They also cite decisions and law journal articles describing such concepts as “personal decisions in life,” “personal choice in matters of family life,”

“the right to raise one’s child,” “reproductive choice,” “a woman’s autonomous charge of her full life’s course,” and her right to “control her body and destiny.” Appellant’s Br. P.50-52. The State does not dispute the importance of those principles, but as this Court has recognized, they are not unlimited. *See Santi v. Santi*, 633 N.W.2d 312, 317 (Iowa 2001). Moreover, they are not themselves rights. They may support a right to a certain specific choice, but such choice must be defined with specificity. *See, e.g., State v. Hartog*, 440 N.W.2d 852, 855 (Iowa 1989) (In the event that the Iowa constitution recognizes a right to “privacy,” it would not extend to the personal choice whether to wear a seatbelt.).

Choosing to terminate a pregnancy is not a fundamental right in Iowa. The text of our constitution does not contemplate such a choice. It is not deeply rooted in our history or tradition; when the due process clause of the Iowa constitution was adopted, abortion was a crime. *See Act of Feb. 16, 1843, codified at Iowa. (Terr.) Rev. Stat. ch. 49, § 10 (1843)*. It remained so until it was struck down under the federal constitution following *Roe*. *See Doe v. Turner*, 361 F. Supp. 1288 (S.D. Iowa 1973).

The question that this Court must answer requires the application of a test that allows legislatures and lawyers to understand what the constitution protects. It cannot be that the due process clause protects simply “those freedoms and entitlements that this Court *really* likes.” *Obergefell v. Hodges*, 135 S. Ct. 2584, 2630 (2015) (Scalia, J., dissenting). Applying the principles and analysis from this Court’s precedents leads to the inescapable conclusion that the right to choose an abortion—however important—is not fundamental in Iowa.

This Court has in the past followed the guidance of the United States Supreme Court to determine which rights are fundamental. *King*, 818 N.W.2d at 26; *see also Hartog*, 440 N.W.2d at 855 (“[G]iven the textual similarity between the two due process clauses, we have been inclined in the past to follow Supreme Court interpretations in these circumstances.”). This path leads to the same conclusion. The United States Supreme Court has held that applying strict scrutiny to “all governmental attempts to influence a woman’s decision on behalf of the potential life within her” is incompatible with the “substantial state interest in potential life throughout pregnancy.” *Id.* at 876. As a result, the “undue burden” standard

emerged as the lodestar for challenges to abortion regulations under the federal constitution. *Id.* (“In our view, the undue burden standard is the appropriate means of reconciling the State’s interest with the woman’s constitutionally protected liberty.”).

C. The informed choice provision survives Planned Parenthood’s facial challenge under the undue burden test.

In order to succeed on a facial challenge to the law, this Court’s precedents require Planned Parenthood to prove that the informed consent provision constitutes an undue burden in every conceivable set of circumstances. *F.K.*, 630 N.W.2d at 805; *Hernandez-Lopez*, 639 N.W.2d at 237; *War Eagle Village Apartments*, 775 N.W.2d at 722. Even if this Court applies the modified federal test, Planned Parenthood must prove that it constitutes an undue burden “in a large fraction of the cases in which the law is relevant.” *Planned Parenthood of Arkansas & Eastern Oklahoma v. Jegley*, 864 F.3d 953, 958 (8th Cir. 2017) (“*PPAEO*”) (quoting *Casey*, 505 U.S. at 895). At the outset, it is important to clarify what is meant by an undue burden in this context.

A “guiding principle” of the undue burden test reminds courts that “[w]hat is at stake is the woman’s right to make the ultimate

decision, not a right to be insulated from all others in doing so.” *Casey*, 505 U.S. at 877. In other words, the undue burden standard operates as a rational basis test with an added element. The added element identifies the class of women affected by the statute and asks whether the statute is “likely to prevent a significant number of women from obtaining an abortion.” *Id.* at 877, 893. If so, the burden is so severe as to remove from the pregnant woman the “ultimate decision.” If not, a measure designed to persuade her to choose childbirth over abortion will be upheld if “reasonably related to that purpose”—the rational basis test. The undue burden standard provides an elegant balance between the autonomy of the pregnant woman and the interest of Iowans in expressing their profound respect for life. See Iowa Const. art. 1, sec. 1 (protecting the rights of “enjoying *and defending* life”) (emphasis added).

i. The undue burden test does not require this Court to balance burdens against benefits.

In *PPH I*, this Court explained that the undue burden test applies differently depending on the interest advanced by the State. 865 N.W.2d at 263. Regulations that advance the State’s interest in unborn life do not constitute an undue burden unless they have the purpose or effect of placing a “substantial obstacle” in the path of a

woman seeking an abortion. *Id.* An obstacle is substantial under the undue burden test if it is “likely to prevent a significant number of women from obtaining an abortion.” *Casey*, 505 U.S. at 877, 893. If a regulation advances the State’s interest in ensuring women’s health, on the other hand, this Court will weigh the strength of the State’s justification against the burdens imposed. *PPH I*, 865 N.W.2d at 264.

Planned Parenthood disputes that statement. It argues that balancing is required even where the State asserts its interest in protecting unborn life. It relies on *Whole Woman’s Health v. Hellerstedt*, 136 S. Ct. 2292 (2016), decided just one year after *PPH I*. In *Whole Woman’s Health*, the United States Supreme Court struck down a series of regulations passed by the State of Texas targeting abortion providers. Because the regulations at issue advanced the State’s interest in women’s health, applying the *Casey* balancing accords with this Court’s precedent. Planned Parenthood refers to a portion of the decision where the majority criticized the Fifth Circuit’s statement of the undue burden test. The cited portion contains a bizarre and incorrect reading of *Casey* and does not actually announce any standard. This Court got it right in *PPH I*.

In the decision on appeal in *Whole Woman's Health*, the Fifth Circuit said that an abortion regulation does not constitute an undue burden if “(1) it does not have the purpose or effect of placing a substantial obstacle in the path of a woman seeking an abortion of a nonviable fetus; and (2) it is reasonably related to (or designed to further) a legitimate state interest.” 136 S. Ct. at 2309. For a regulation that furthers the State’s interest in protecting unborn life, that standard is correct and drawn straight from *Casey*. See *PPH I*, 865 N.W.2d at 263 (quoting *Casey*, 505 U.S. at 878).

The United States Supreme Court disagreed, writing that *Casey* requires that courts “consider the burdens a law imposes on abortion access together with the benefits those laws confer.” *Whole Woman's Health*, 136 S. Ct. at 2309. It then cited to the portion of *Casey* addressing the spousal and parental notification provisions and claimed in a parenthetical that the Court was “performing this balancing” test. *Id.* That statement is plainly wrong.

Examining the spousal notification provision in *Casey*, the Court first examined the findings of the district court and concluded that the provision placed a substantial obstacle in the path of married women seeking abortions who would not have otherwise notified

their spouse. 505 U.S. at 887-894. While it could have concluded the analysis there, it nevertheless proceeded to the second prong to hold that a husband's interest in the safety of a fetus is not a "sufficient predicate for state regulation." *Id.* at 894-98. In other words, the spousal notification provision was not reasonably related to a legitimate state interest. The Court did not consider the "benefits" of the spousal notification provision at all.

The statement that the Court performed some kind of balancing is even weaker with respect to the parental notification provision. The Court stated that it was upholding the parental notification provision for the same reasons as they upheld the general informed consent provision. *Id.* at 899-900. In that analysis the Court set out the test described by the Fifth Circuit perhaps better than any other. *Id.* at 881-883. In it, the Court explicitly acknowledges that, so long as it does not create a substantial obstacle, the State may require information designed to protect unborn life, even when that information has no direct relation to the woman's health. *Id.* at 882. The portion of *Whole Woman's Health* that Planned Parenthood cites was unnecessary to the holding in that case and misreads *Casey*. This Court is not bound by the United States Supreme Court's explanation

of the undue burden test should it decide it apply it under the Iowa constitution. It should instead rely on its own statement in *PPH I*—a much better reading of the *Casey* standard.

Planned Parenthood also cites five federal district court decisions from the past year that apparently follow the incorrect reading of *Casey* advanced in *Whole Woman's Health*. Three of those decisions are currently pending on appeal. *See Hopkins v. Jegley*, Case No. 4:17-cv66-00404-KGB, 2017 WL 3220445 (E.D. Ark. July 28, 2017); *Planned Parenthood of Ind. & Ky., Inc. v. Comm'r, Ind. State Dep't of Health*, No. 1:16-cv-01807-TWP- DML, 2017 WL 1197308 (S.D. Ind. March 31, 2017); *Whole Woman's Health v. Hellerstedt (Whole Woman's Health II)*, 231 F. Supp. 3d 218 (W.D. Tex. Jan. 27, 2017). The decision in *West Alabama Women's Center v. Miller*, 217 F. Supp. 3d 1313 (M.D. Ala. 2016), was appealed, but the appeal was dismissed as moot in October because the district court issued a ruling on the merits on October 26, 2017. That decision will presumably be appealed. In other words, the battle to understand whether and how *Whole Woman's Health* affects the undue burden standard in the federal courts is far from over.

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